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I. BURDEN OF PROOF �

1. Complaint Counsel must prove its case under FTC Act Section 5 by "substantial 

evidence." FTC v. Cement Institute, 333 U.S. 683, 705 (1948); California Dental Ass 'n 





'1 
I 

12. Evidence demonstrating opportunities to conspire or consciously parallel pricing 

behavior does not constitute direct evidence of conspiracy, but is, at most, circumstantial See 

Cosmetic Gallery, Inc. v. Schoeneman Corp., 495 F.3d 46, 52-53 (3rd Cir. 2007) ("Cosmetic 

Gallery")); See also, Superior Offshore International, Inc. v. Bristow Group, 2012 WL 

3055849, *5 (3rd Cir. July 27, 2012) ("Superior Offshore") (vague statements, such as 

admonitions to competitors to "play by the rules," do not constitute direct evidence). 

2. � The 52-53D 52-53Ece 



to protect," Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 594 (1986) 

("Matsushita"). 

18. According to the well-established "theory of interdependence," any rational firm 

in a oligopolistic market, such as DIWF, must take into account the anticipated reaction of its 

competitors when making its own pricing decisions. Flat Glass, 385 F.3d at 359. 

19. In a concentrated market like DIWF, parallel pricing by competitors "can be a 

necessary fact of life but be the result of independent pricing decisions" rather than illicit 

agreement. Baby Food, 



1102-03; Burtch, 662 F.3d at 226-27; In re Travel Agent Commission Antitrust Litg., 583 F.3d 

896,903 (6th Cir. 2009) ("Travel Agent"). See also Brooke Group Ltd. v. Brown & Williamson 

Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209, 227 (1993) ("Brooke Group"); Twombly, 550 U.S. at 553-54, 

556-57. 

22. Such conscious parallelism, while possibly indicative of a conspiracy, is "just as 

much in line with a wide swath of rational and competitive business strategy unilaterally 

prompted by common perceptions of the market." Burtch, 662 F.3d at 227 (quoting Twombly, 

550 U.S. at 554). 

23. As a result of the inherent economic realities of oligopolistic markets, courts 

require a plaintiff relying on evidence of conscious parallelism to establish that certain "plus 

factors" also exist. Flat Glass, 385 F.3d at 360. 

24. Requiring plaintiffs to meet this heightened standard of proof "tends to ensure that 

courts punish 'concerted action' - an actual agreement - instead of the 'unilateral, independent 

conduct of competitors. '" Id. (citing Baby Food, 166 F .3d at 122); see also Intervest, 340 F .3d 

at 159-60 (plaintiff relying on circumstantial evidence must meet heightened burden of proof). 

25. Thus, to distinguish between legitimate parallel conduct and an illegal price-

fixing scheme, an antitrust plaintiff must present "plus factor" evidence that "tends to exclude 

the possibility" that the defendant acted independently of its competitors. Matsushita, 475 U.S. 

at 588; Flat Glass, 385 F.3d at 360 

26. Plus factors include: (i) a motive to conspIre; (ii) noncompetitive behavior 

contrary to the defendant's own economic self-interest; and (iii) hallmarks of traditional 

conspiracy. Baby Food, 166 F.3d at 121-22. 
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27. The overwhelming evidence is that McWane, lacking any motive to conspire with 

Star and Sigma, acted independently and in its own economic self-interest. 

28. � The government has failed to establish 



defendant's self interest, then conspiracy should not be inferred from ambiguous evidence or 

mere parallelism). 



3. � The Government has Failed to Establish Hallmarks of Traditional 
Conspiracy involving McWane. 

36. Ordinarily in an oligopolistic market, motive and noncompetitive behavior are 

present. See Flat Glass, 385 F.3d at 360. 

37. Even 



established that such "bare 'conscious parallelism' is 'not in itself unlawful. '" White, 635 F.3d 

at 575 (quoting Brooke Group Ltd., 509 U.S. at 27)). 

42. To distinguish a tacit price-fixing agreement from legitimate conSCIOUS 

parallelism, Complaint Counsel must proffer evidence of "uniform behavior among competitors, 

preceded by conversations implying that later uniformity might prove desirable or accompanied 

by other conduct that in context suggests that each competitor failed to make an independent 

decision." White, 635 F.3d at 576. 

43. Courts have held that evidence of "opportunity to conspire" is insufficient to infer 

.] an antitrust conspiracy. Travel Agent, 583 F.3d at 905; Cosmetic Gallery, 495 F.3d at 53. 

44. It is well-established that competitor communications alone are insufficient 

evidence of a price-fixing conspiracy. White, 635 F.3d at 583-84. See also Baby Food, 166 compets'also a l s o  p i r e "   0 Td
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47. Complaint Counsel must prove that any alleged exchange of pricing information 

actually made an impact on pricing decisions. Id. at 369; Baby Food, 166 F.3d at 125. 

Complaint Counsel has failed to do so. Complaint Counsel established no evidence if an 

exchange of price information beyond normal pricing letters to customers. 

48. Complaint Counsel has thus failed to meet its burden of presenting evidence 

which tends to exclude the possibility that insert legal cite/quote. 

D. The Short-Lived Trade Association the Ductile Iron Fittings Research 
Association (DIFRA) Did Not Facilitate Price Coordination 

49. It is well established that legitimate trade associations are perfectly legal. Citric 

Acid, 191 F.3d at 1097-98. Courts have also rejected any antitrust liability premised upon the 

theory that a company's decision to participate in a trade association that gathers and 

disseminates aggregated tons-shipped data somehow "facilitated" price collusion. Williamson 

Oil, 346 F .3d at 1313 ("exchange [of] information relating to sales ... does not tend to exclude 

the possibility of independent action or to establish anticompetitive collusion"). Even if DIFRA 

had gathered pricing information (which it did not), it is well-settled that "[g]athering 

information about pricing and competition in the industry is standard fare for trade associations. 

If we allowed conspiracy to be inferred from such activities alone, we would have to allow an 

inference of conspiracy whenever a trade association took almost any 





58. Complaint Counsel's Section 5 claims alleging that McWane monopolized, 

attempted to monopolize, or conspired to monopolize the so-called domestic fittings market 

must meet the same burden of proof as Sherman Act Section 2 claims. See, e.g. FTC v. Cement 

Institute, 333 U.S. 683,691-92 (1948). 

59. Section 2 of the Sherman Act prohibits a firm from monopolizing, attempting to 

monopolize, or conspiring to monopolize the relevant market. 15 U.S.C. § 2. 

60. "The purpose of the Act is not to protect businesses from the workings of the 

market; it is to protect the public from the failure of the market. The law directs itself not 

against conduct which is competitive, even severely so, but against conduct which unfairly tends 

to destroy competition itself." Spectrum Sports, Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 U.S. 447, 458 (1993) 

(emphasis supplied). 

61. Because "[i]t is sometimes difficult to distinguish robust competition from 

conduct with long-term anti competitive effects," federal courts have been careful to avoid 

construing Section 2 in a way that would chill, rather than foster, competition. Spectrum Sports, 

506 U.S. at 458-59. 

62. The Supreme Court has made clear that: "[t]he mere possession of monopoly 

power, and the concomitant charging of monopoly prices, is not only not unlawful; it is an 

important element of the free-market system. The opportunity to charge monopoly prices - 



253 F.3d 34, 51 (D.C. Cir. 2001) ("merely possessing monopoly power is not itself an antitrust 

violation"). 

63. Acquiring or maintaining monopoly power through "growth or development as a 

consequence of a superior product, business acumen, or historic accident" is not a violation of 

Section 2. Verizon, 540 U.S. at 407 (quoting United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 

570-71 (1966)). 

64. McWane's share of the Fittings market is not the result of willful misconduct, but 

of its own business acumen and even historic accident - i.e. the exit of other domestic DIWF 

manufacturers from an unprofitable industry in the wake of a flood of cheap imports. Thus, 

Complaint Counsel must establish not only that McWane possessed monopoly power in the 

relevant market, but also that it willfully acquired or maintained that power through 

anticompetititve conduct. See Verizon, 540 U.S. at 407. 

65. Because Complaint Counsel cannot meet this burden, McWane is entitled to 

judgment in its favor on Counts Five through Seven of the Complaint, and Count Four to the 

extent it is based on monopoly. 

B. McWane Lacked Market Power. 

66. McWane's market share does not rise to the level of "monopoly power." See 

Barr Laboratories, Inc. v. Abbott Laboratories, 978 F.2d 98, 112-13 (3rd Cir. 1992) (market 

share of 50% did not establish monopoly power). As numerous witnesses confirmed 
 / L I _ T i t l u 1 0 6  T c  3 . 8 0 7 B .  
L a 2 )  

L a 4 o p o l y  an8er." 





• 1 

72. "Market share reflects current sales, but today's sales do not always indicate 

power over sales and price tomorrow." Ball Memorial Hospital v. Mut. Hospital Ins., Inc., 784 

F.2d 1325, 1336 (7th Cir. 1986); see also Oahu Gas, 838 F.2d at 366 (a firm with a high market 

share may be able to exert market power in the short run, but substantial market power can 

persist only if there are significant and continuing barriers to entry). 

73. � The evidence demonstrates that McWane lacks such power. 

C. � McWane's September 2009 Rebate Policy Did Not Exclude Star and is Pro­
competitive. 

74. Even if Complaint Counsel could establish that domestic DIWF is a separate 

relevant market in which McWane has monopoly power (which it cannot), McWane is 

nevertheless entitled to judgment in its favor because there is no evidence that McWane engaged 

in anticompetitive conduct to acquire or maintain monopoly power. See Verizon, 540 U.S. at 

407. 

75. Complaint Counsel alleges two instances of supposed anticompetitive conduct: 

McWane's September 2009 Rebate Policy ("Rebate Policy") and McWane's Master 

Distributorship Agreement with Sigma ("MDA"). both are pro-competitive. 

1. The Rebate Policy is Presumptively Legal 

76. "As a general rule, businesses are free to choose the parties with whom they will 

deal, as well as the prices, terms, and conditions of that dealing." Pacific Bell Tel. Co. v. 

Linkline Comm., Inc., 555 U.S. 438,448 (2009). 

77. The rebates referenced in the Rebate Policy are customer discounts. Because 

discounts are beneficial to consumers, "price cutting is a practice the antitrust laws aim to 

promote." Cascade Health Solutions v. Peacehealth, 515 F.3d 883, 896 (9th Cir. 2008); see 
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Nicsand, Inc. v. 3M Co., 507 F.3d 442,452 (6th Cir. 2007) ("[c]utting prices in order to increase 

business often is the very essence of competition"). 

78. Discounted prices that remain above a firm's average variable cost are 

presumptively legal, because a firm's ability to offer above cost discounts represents 
! 
; 

competition on the merits. Concord Boat v. Brunswick Boat Corp., 207 F.3d 1039, 1061 (8th 

Cir. 2000) ("Concord Boat"). 

79. Too much judicial oversight of discounting creates "intolerable risks of chilling 

legitimate price cutting." Id at 1061 (quoting Brooke Group Ltd v. Brown & Williamson 

Tobacco Corp., 509 U.S. 209, 223 (1993)). See also Southeast Missouri Hosp. v. CR. Bard, 

Inc., 642 F. 3d 608, 623 (8th Cir. 2011) (plaintiff must overcome a strong presumption of 

legality where defendant's discounted prices are above its average variable cost). 

80. There is no evidence that the customer discounts McWane offered under its 

Rebate Policy were below its average variable cost. See Safeway, Inc. v. Abbott Laboratories, 

761 F.Supp.2d 874, 898 (N.D.Cal. 2011) (granting summary judgment for defendant on 

predatory pricing monopoly and attempted monopoly claims, where plaintiff failed to present 

evidence that defendant priced below cost). 

81. A defendant's above-cost customer discounts are presumed legal even if those 

discounts are offered under an exclusive agreement. See, e.g., Cascade Health Solutions v. 

Peacehealth, 515 F.3d 883, 903 (9th Cir. 2008); Concord Boat, 207 F3d at 1061; Nicsand, 507 

F.3d at 451-52, 457. 

82. This presumption of legality even applies where the defendant has a super-

majority share of the relevant market, provided the exclusive agreement is terminable at will and 

17 
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on short notice. Epicenter Recognition, Inc. v. Jostens, Inc., 81 Fed.App. 910, 911-12 (9th Cir. 

2003). 

83. McWane's Rebate Policy is not only terminable at will and on short notice, it is 

terminable at any time, because it is not a legally enforceable contract or agreement. 

84. The possibility that the Rebate Policy increased Star's costs is of no consequence, 

because the antitrust laws are designed to protect competition, not competitors. Bacchus Inds., 

Inc. v. Arvin Inds., Inc., 939 F.2d 887, 894 (lOth Cir. 1991) (citing Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo 

Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 488, 97 S.Ct. 690, 697, 50 L.Ed.2d 701 (l977)) ("Whether or 

not a practice violates the antitrust laws is determined by its effect on competition and not its 

effect on an individual competitor.") 

85. Although conduct that eliminates rivals reduces competition, "reduction of 

competition does not invoke the Sherman Act until it harms consumer welfare." Rebel Oil, 51 

F.3d at 1433. 

86. As one circuit court put it: "cutthroat competition is a term of praise rather than 

condemnation... consumers gain when firms try 0 Td
(try )Tj
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Merchandising, 656 F.3d at 126 (attempted monopolization claim "presumptively implausible 

where the challenged conduct has been in place for at least two years and the market remains 

competitive, as evidenced by ongoing entry, profitability of rivals, and stability of their 

aggregate market share.") 

89. The allegation that Star did not increase its domestic fittings sales as much or as 







106. With regard to the specific intent element, the desire to maintain or increase one's 

market share is not in itself an antitrust violation. Oahu Gas, 838 F.2d at 368. 

107. For a claim of attempted monopolization, even "[d]irect evidence of intent to 

vanquish a rival in an honest competitive struggle cannot help to establish an antitrust violation. 

It must also be shown that the defendant sought victory through unfair or predatory means." 

William Inglis & Sons Baking Co. v. ITT Continental Baking Co., Inc., 668 F.2d 1014,1028 (9th 

Cir. 1982). 

108. Because Complaint Counsel has failed to establish that McWane engaged in 

unfair or predatory conduct. McWane is entitled to judgment in its favor on Count Seven of the 

Complaint. 

2. Conspiracy to Monopolize 

109. To establish conspiracy to monopolize, a plaintiff must prove: (i) the existence of 

a conspiracy to monopolize; (ii) overt acts done in furtherance of the conspiracy; (3) an effect 

upon an appreciable amount of interstate commerce; and (4) a specific intent to monopolize. 

Lantec, Inc. v. Novell, Inc., 306 F.3d 1003, 1028 (lOth Or. 2002). 

110. Conduct as consistent with permissible competition as with illegal conspiracy 

does not support an inference of antitrust conspiracy. Id. at 1030. 

111. Thus, Complaint Counsel must prove that both Mc Wane and Sigma had a specific 

intent to endow McWane m o n o p o l e m 1 e  Wane 1 1 0 .  C r i t y  T f 
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113. Further, even if Complaint Counsel could establish that McWane had an intent to 

achieve a monopoly (which it cannot), Complaint Counsel has no evidence that Sigma shared 

the same intent. 

.1 

114. To the contrary, 



121. Without more, even evidence that such an agreement increases consumer prices or 

reduces consumer choice is not sufficient to establish an antitrust violation. Id at 1202. 



125. Courts cannot grant injunctions unless a plaintiff shows ongoing or imminent harm. 

The Supreme Court has repeatedly denied injunctive relief to plaintiffs, like Complaint Counsel 

here, who cannot meet that proof. 

126. The plaintiff "must show that he is under threat of suffering 'injury in fact' that is 

concrete and particularized' and "the threat must be actual and imminent, not conjectural or 

hypothetical[.]" Summers v. Earth Island Inst., 555 U.S. 488, 493 (2009). 

127. A plaintiff, like Complaint Counsel here, that fails to meet these requirements is not 

entitled to injunctive relief. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Dukes, 131 S. Ct. 2541, 2559-60 (2011) 

("plaintiffs no longer employed [by Wal-Mart] lack standing to seek injunctive and declaratory 

relief against its employment practices"); City ofL.A. v. Lyons, 461 U.S. 95, 105 (1983) (past 

injury at hands ofpolice did not entitle plaintiff to enjoin future police practices). 

128. The mere possibility that past conduct might occur again is insufficient. Winter v. 

Natural Res. De! Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7,22 (2008); eBay Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L.c., 547 

U.S. 388, 391 (2006) 

129. It is undisputed that the conduct that is alleged to be unlawful in the Complaint has 

long since ended. Complaint Counsel's own expert testified that the alleged conspiracy ended 

over four years ago in late 2008, and has suggested no conspiratorial conduct beyond June 2010. 

Likewise, it is undisputed that McWane's 2009 Rebate Policy is terminated in early 2010 and is 

no longer in effect. Finally, the undisputed evidence also establishes that the MDA executed by 

McWane and Sigma was terminated in 2010. Thus, there is no possibility that the challenged 

conduct could reoccur. 
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